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Thursday, January 6, 2011

--- On commencing at 9:06 a.m.

MS. HELT:  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Maureen Helt.  I am Board counsel with respect to this matter.  With me I have Christie Clark, who is Board Staff and case manager.  We are sitting or we are present today for the purpose of a technical conference on the Newmarket-Tay Power Distribution Ltd. 2010 EDR cost-of-service rate application.

Just a few administrative matters.  I believe everyone here knows that if you are going to be asking or answering a question, there is a green button in front of you which you are to press, and, when the light goes on, that indicates that you are in fact on air, and then the court reporter will be able to hear you and properly transcribe your questions or answers.  And if you don't have it on, I am sure she or someone else will let you know.

Perhaps we can proceed today first with appearances, and then I believe Mr. Harper will begin his questions first among the intervenors.
Appearances:

MR. HARPER:  Bill Harper.  I am consultant for Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, consultant for Energy Probe.

MR. TAYLOR:  Andrew Taylor, counsel to applicant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for School Energy Coalition.

MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, consultant, Consumers Council of Canada.

MR. CLINTON:  Iain Clinton, Newmarket Power.

MR. FERGUSON:  Paul Ferguson, Newmarket-Tay Power Distribution.

MS. HELT:  And I note David MacIntosh, on behalf of Energy Probe, has just entered the technical conference.
Questions by Mr. Harper:

MR. HARPER:  I guess I prefiled a number of questions, and my understanding is that the ones dealing with the load forecast cost allocation rate design we are going to defer for now and deal with a little bit later after the applicants have had a chance to work on the answers a little bit more.  So I would like to maybe just focus on the OM&A questions, which are at the end.

I guess we will start off with technical conference Question No. 11, and this is dealing with the response to OEB Staff interrogatory 4(c), where you had been talking about the total impact of wage and benefit harmonization in the journey linemen, hiring of -- increasing wages from the 2005 by over $160,000.  And we are just looking -- we are looking at these questions for a little bit more of a breakdown on that, and number (a) deals more with the fact that -- providing the impact on the cost related to the savings in costs by no longer allowing the former Tay president to do line person work and presumably lowering his compensation as a result, which in our view would probably lower costs, and the offset would be the costs of hiring the third line person to actually perform that work, and maybe just let us know what the net impact of those two changes was and how that contributed to the $160,000.

MR. FERGUSON:  With respect to the savings from the Tay president, the former president still provides prudent supervision in the Tay service area, so there was no adjustment to his wage.

In terms of harmonizing the Tay line staff at the Newmarket levels, the cost of the harmonization was about 96,700, and with the new apprentice the total is approximately $160,000, as shown in the response to Board Staff IR 4(c).

MR. HARPER:  So basically the hiring the line person is about the other 53,300, then, if I have done my arithmetic correctly, then?

MR. FERGUSON:  That's correct.

MR. HARPER:  Thanks.  The next response has to do with the response to VECC 23(a).  And there we had been asking questions about the impact on the 2009 revenue requirement, and you had indicated that you were currently going through the calculation at the time of the interrogatory response, but hadn't completed it.

We were just looking for an update on that in terms of whether you had managed to complete those calculations at that point in time.

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.  It's about 5 percent less than the 2010 number, so you're looking at around 170 to 180.

MR. HARPER:  Okay.  The next question had to do 
with -- staying at the same original interrogatory, VECC 23, this time part (b).  There, there is a reference to a 47 percent budget increase for insurance costs, for insurance provider.

I guess we were just wondering whether -- in terms of the insurance provider, whether you had solicited competitive bids on insurance coverage or gone out and sought costs from alternate providers as opposed to your sort of regular past insurance provider.

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.  Unfortunately, we have a two-year notification with our insurance provider, so we just can't get out of it right away.

MR. HARPER:  Just so I get it clear on the calendar, those two years are 2009 or 2010 or...

MR. CLINTON:  2010 and 2011.

MR. HARPER:  This insurance you are entering into, this would be for the first of those two years, 2010?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. HARPER:  So I was trying to figure out how -- so can you explain to me how the two years -- so if you're just entering into the --


MR. CLINTON:  When we got the bill, it was due the next day.

MR. HARPER:  Okay, right.  Then if you want to cancel the insurance, you have to give two years' notice after that?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. HARPER:  Good enough.  I just want to understand how the mechanics work.

MR. FERGUSON:  Just to clarify that, that insurance is industry-wide insurance.  It's Meiri, so it's reciprocal.  So we are a member of that reciprocal insurance, along with I believe most of the other LDCs in Ontario.  It's a sector impact, that increase in insurance.  It's not just Newmarket-Tay.

MR. HARPER:  So, effectively, it's the insurance provider increased the insurance cost to Meiri, effectively, and Meiri is reflecting through to you your share of the increase in costs, if I can put it that way?

MR. FERGUSON:  That is correct.

MR. CLINTON:  That is correct.

MR. HARPER:  Maybe that helps clarify a little bit the response to part (b), because in part (b) of the follow-up question -- because you referenced in your response here the fact you weren't aware of what the overall market increase in insurance costs was, and elsewhere in the evidence you talked about insurance costs increasing generally.

I guess what we understand now is that that general increase is the Meiri increase, and you are just picking up your portion of that increase?

MR. FERGUSON:  That is correct.

MR. HARPER:  Okay, fine.  I think that helps on that.  Then the last one is VECC 29(a), and, again, this was one where there had been an original question, and in the response you'd indicated that at the time of the response, you were still gathering the information together.

And we are just wondering what the status of the process was.

MR. CLINTON:  We are just trying to point you to the reference on the capital budgets, and then we will respond to the operating budgets in a second.

MR. HARPER:  Okay, sure.

MR. CLINTON:  And the reference to the IR for the capital budgets escapes me, because I know we did one up.  We have -- in regards to the operating budgets, I have them on my computer, and, I am sorry, I just kind of let that one slip through the cracks, trying to do everything else.  So a little later I can probably flip them over to Christie.

MR. HARPER:  Sure.  That would be great.

I think question itself, which is -- our question was focussing on the operating budgets.  The Schools question may have been look at capital budgets, as well.  But if you can get that printed and made available a little later on, that would be great.

MR. CLINTON:  Yeah.  I just have to e-mail it to Christie.

MR. HARPER:  Okay.  Fine.  That's all the questions I have, thanks.
Questions by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Good morning, gentlemen.  Randy Aiken for Energy Probe.  You have a copy of the questions we provided.

I don't know, Maureen.  Did you want to mark these questions as an exhibit, so I don't have to read them all into the record?

MS. HELT:  That's fine.  We can do that.  We will mark the questions of Energy Probe as KT1.1.
EXHIBIT No. KT1.1:  ENERGY PROBE Technical conference questions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We should probably do that with the VECC questions as well.

MS. HELT:  We can mark the questions, then, of VECC, although I believe Mr. Harper read the questions into the record.  But just for completeness, we will mark that as KT1.2.
EXHIBIT No. KT1.2:  VECC Technical Conference questions.

MR. AIKEN:  My first question had to do with the request for the effective date, and I just want to know whether you agree with the statement that was provided there.

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes, we do.

MR. AIKEN:  The second question -- can you explain the difference between the 2.7 million noted in the interrogatory response, which I believe was a typo, and that should say Energy Probe Interrogatory 6(a).

MR. FERGUSON:  That's okay.  We got it.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So what's the difference between the 2.7 million and the 2.3 million in the evidence?

MR. CLINTON:  Simply for the 2.7, we combined all the parts of the Holland Junction.  There is EB -- sorry, CP 193, capital job, which gets added in, and that is the power line -- the Bayview Avenue feeders through PowerStream.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Question 3 has to do with the smart meter costs, and I will read these questions.  Part (a):

“The response to part (b) of the interrogatory...", 

which is Energy Probe No. 7,

"...indicates that the revenue requirement agreed to in EB-2007-0776 settlement agreement included all capitalized smart meter costs up to December 31st, 2008.  Please reconcile this statement with the statement in Exhibit 1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 3, that between 2006 and April of 2009 all of the costs associated with smart meters and TOU pricing were borne by the applicant."

MR. CLINTON:  I think for further clarification, as part of the settlement of EB-2007-0776, the applicant had smart meter interior capital costs incurred up to December 31st, 2008 included in its rate base, thus in its revenue requirement.  The applicant's rates, which include these costs, were effective for April 1st, 2009.  Thus the applicant had borne all costs associated with smart meters in TOU billing without having or using rate riders, deferral accounts or seed funding in the Newmarket area.

MR. AIKEN:  So I assume that's also, then, your response to part (b) of the question, that they were included in rate base?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes. 

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And then that would cover part (c), as well?  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. CLINTON:  Essentially.

MR. AIKEN:  Question 4 is Energy Probe 9(c) and CCC Interrogatory No. 3.
"The response indicates that $900,615 was spent on leasehold improvements at 590 Steven Court which are leased premises.  The table provided shows the three components of this amount."

So part (a) of the question, were the leasehold improvements that totalled the $900,000 all made in 2010 -- and let me just stop there; were they?

MR. FERGUSON:  The $900,615 was not spent.  In 2009, there was leasehold additions of $254,135, and in 2010, there were leasehold -- as of July 31st, 2010, there was leasehold additions of 510,177. 

MS. GIRVAN:  Can I just interject?  This table that was given out earlier, is this the updated capital budget?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes, it is.  It is our best forecast to December 31st.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So that's got a different number, then, for the leasehold improvements?

MR. CLINTON:  The 510 was the actual at the time that we ruled the IR, so that was to July 31st.  The table that you were provided with this morning is our best guess for December 31st, and that has got all-in costs.  So I think we have come up to 559 and change.

MS. HELT:  If I can just interject, I am not sure if this has been handed out to everyone already.  All the intervenors have a copy?  All right.  We didn't have a copy.  Perhaps this would be a good time to mark this as KT1.3.  Thank you.

We can identify that document as an updated capital budget?

MR. CLINTON:  It might be capital actual because it's, like I said, our best guess to December 31st, 2010, and I don't expect it to change that much.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.3:  UPDATED CAPITAL BUDGET.

MR. AIKEN:  With that answer, I can skip part (b). 

Part (c) of the question was:

“Please show the calculations used to determine the amount of depreciation/amortization included in the 2010 revenue requirement."

Can you provide that or provide the number?

MR. CLINTON:  I can try to speak to it.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.

MR. CLINTON:  If I look at it, the leasehold improvement for 2009 was $254,000.  Therefore the amortization included in the revenue requirement would be about $50,827.  The 2010 leasehold improvement in the original and/or standing revenue requirement was $95,000.  So you would be taking that at the 50 percent rule for 2010, and your depreciation would be about 9,500.  So if I can do the math, it's about $60,327.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you back up?  Where does the 95,000 come from?

MR. CLINTON:  95,000 for 2010 was our original budgeted leasehold improvement number, in the original rate filing.  And if you need to, I can point to you that exhibit.  It will just take me a second to find it.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, please.

MR. CLINTON:  Can I have a second to find it for you?

MS. GIRVAN:  It's on here.

MR. CLINTON:  I am looking for the original.  I am just trying to find the actual paper.  It was $95,000 for an elevator, I believe. 

If I can go to the original prefiled evidence, which I believe is Exhibit 2, tab 4, schedule 3, page 13 of 16, our total leasehold improvements for 2010 were originally budgeted at $95,000.  The following pages also include the descriptions of our cap-ex projects.

Would you like any more information on that?  I can photocopy this or...

MR. AIKEN:  No, that's good.

MR. CLINTON:  Okay.  So that's how I got the 9,500.

MR. AIKEN:  Parts (d) and (e) of the question I will do together.  Have you obtained an extension to the lease for 590 Steven Court?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes, we have a two-year extension of that lease.  At the end of that time, we expect to negotiate or enter into a further five-year agreement on the lease.

MR. AIKEN:  Question 5 I can skip, because it deals with the same issues in the first question.

Question 6, the reference is Energy Probe number Interrogatory No. 10(b).  The response indicates that the projects listed there will not be completed in service by the end of 2010.  Please indicate the total capital expenditures for each of these projects included in the application and provide a breakdown of the amount that will be in service by the end of 2010 and the amount that will not be in service until 2011.

Are those numbers identified in KT1.3?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes, they are.

MR. AIKEN:  Can you tell me which lines?

MR. CLINTON:  Can you give me a second?  I think we gave away our copy.  Oh, here it is, sorry.  They are identified in lines 5, which actually has 2010 budget 1902309, December spend $43,648.  And we have also got a column "in service 2010", and that column is blank, so you will see it's not to be included in the rate base WIP.  So it's not in.

And the next one is the smart meters, which should be --


MR. AIKEN:  It should be line 2.

MR. CLINTON:  It should be line 2, but it didn't come through.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Question 7 I assume is one that is going to be dealt with tomorrow, normalized actual revenues?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.  I think I would like to go back to the original IR.  That is the weather normalized data given to us by Elenchus.

MR. AIKEN:  I think I understand how they normalize revenues.  It's wrong, but I understand it.

Question 8 refers to Exhibit 3, tab 1, schedule 2, attachment 1 and asks for an update for table 6 through 10 to reflect actual 2010 figures.  Do you have that information yet?

MR. CLINTON:  We have submitted the request to Elenchus.  We do not have the information as of yet.

MR. AIKEN:  Question 9 refers to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 20.  The first part is:
"Please add 2010 to the calculation shown in the response to parts (g) and (g)."

And maybe I should just stop there.  Again, is this one that Elenchus will be following up on?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Question No. 10, the same thing?

MR. CLINTON:  Actually, we are getting the actual wholesale data.  We just haven't got it yet.  We have to interrogate Tay's service provider.

MR. AIKEN:  All right.  Question No. 11 refers to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 24.  The first part of the question is:
"What interest rate does Newmarket-Tay receive on its cash balance and how is this rate determined?"


That was 10.  I am now asking about question 11.

MR. CLINTON:  That question 10 was Energy Probe 23.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.

MR. CLINTON:  Exhibit 4, miscellaneous revenues.

MR. AIKEN:  That is, yes, other revenue, okay.

MS. HELT:  If we can mark this as Exhibit KT1.4, a table entitled "Other Revenue".
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.4:  TABLE ENTITLED "OTHER REVENUE".

MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Sorry, about that.  I skipped over that, because I had seen the response.

Question 11, then, what interest rate does Newmarket-Tay receive on its cash balance and how is this rate determined?

MR. CLINTON:  I believe the applicant receives Canadian business bank prime, less 1.75, on average monthly balances.

MR. AIKEN:  Part (b) of the question is -- part (d) of the response indicates that the vehicles replaced in 2009 were not sold in 2009.  Were these vehicles sold in 2010?  If so, what were they sold for and, if not, what are they being used for?

MR. CLINTON:  We sold one vehicle in 2010 for about $7,500, and it's actually marked on the miscellaneous revenue schedule.  The other vehicle is currently being kept due to the high volume of upcoming capital work.  When the maintenance cost on this vehicle becomes too prohibitive, the applicant will remove this vehicle from its fleet.

MR. AIKEN:  Question 12 refers to Energy Probe 26(c).  Please update the table to reflect the actual 2010 OM&A expenditures or the most recent year to date numbers.

And I believe that's a response, a table you provided us.

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Which one is that?

MR. AIKEN:  This one.

MS. HELT:  We will mark this as Exhibit KT1.5, a table entitled "Newmarket-Tay Power Distribution response with respect to Energy Probe technical conference question 12."
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.5:  TABLE ENTITLED "NEWMARKET-TAY POWER DISTRIBUTION RESPONSE WITH RESPECT TO ENERGY PROBE TECHNICAL CONFERENCE QUESTION 12."

MR. AIKEN:  Moving on to question 13, it refers to Energy Probe interrogatories 36(c) and (e).  The first question: Do the costs associated with the revision of street lighting services get included in the OM&A costs used to calculate the working capital allowance?

I will stop there.

MR. CLINTON:  No.

MR. AIKEN:  No, okay.  So the costs show up as an offset to the revenues?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.  We treat it as basically a giant clearing account.

MR. AIKEN:  Part (b) of the question:  What other third party customers does Newmarket-Tay have for street lighting services?

MR. CLINTON:  None.

MR. AIKEN:  Question 13 refers to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 40.  Has Newmarket-Tay finished reviewing the calculations in parts (b) and (d) of the response?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  And?

MR. CLINTON:  I agree with part (b).  And 4(d), the tax rate probably should have been about 12.99.  I have recently purchased our annual software licence for our tax upgrade, which will also feed into question 15.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Question 15 refers Energy Probe No. 41.  Please explain why the two apprentices hired in 2009 would not qualify for the apprenticeship tax training credit?

MR. CLINTON:  Upon review, and reviewing the criteria for those pre-mentioned categories, they would qualify for the apprentice tax training credit.

MR. AIKEN:  And then part (b) is:
"Please explain how the 10,000 tax credit results in a tax reduction of $4,000 with the corresponding reduction in revenue requirement."


MR. CLINTON:  If I could have some time, I will plug the number into the updated tax software and get you the correct number.

MS. HELT:  Would you like that to be an undertaking, Mr. Aiken, or will you be able to provide that response?

MR. CLINTON:  I was hoping to provide that response either later today or tomorrow, but if Mr. Aiken isn't here, I can e-mail him the number or...

MR. AIKEN:  Or you can just put it on the record and I will see it on the transcript.  That's fine with me.

Question 16 refers to CCC Interrogatory No. 3 and VECC 31(b), and I assume that's what KT1.3 is, is the updated 2010 capital expenditures?

MR. CLINTON:  Correct.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, the one thing I noticed on KT1.3 -- and I probably should have asked for this, and then maybe others have -- what was your budgeted amount and your actual amount for contributions and grants?  Or is that reflected in these net --


MR. CLINTON:  We have netted them in there.  And most of the contributed capital does go against line -- just hang on for one second.  Yes, it's line 16.  It's where you get most of the contributed capital.

MR. AIKEN:  So these are the net capital expenditures shown?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Good.  That takes care of (b), as well.

And then question 17 refers to SEC Interrogatory No. 3 and Exhibit 2, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 1:

“Please explain the difference in net fixed assets shown in the table in the response to SEC #3 and the rate based trend table shown in Attachment 1..."
of the exhibit I mentioned.

And as an example, as I indicate here:
"...the SEC response shows a total net fixed asset value of $48,131,857 for 2009, while the corresponding figure in the rate base trend table is $51,571,204."

MR. CLINTON:  Essentially, the difference is the net book value of Tay assets.  And just a little further clarification, as this IR related to EB-2007-0776 –-

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So that's –-

MR. CLINTON:  Newmarket's prior cost-of-service allocation, we believed it to be requesting Newmarket data only.

MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
Questions by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  The first of my questions was asking for an updated capital plan, which we have.

MS. HELT:  Ms. Girvan, perhaps we can just mark your questions, then, as an exhibit, as well.

Technical conference questions from the Consumers Council of Canada to be marked as Exhibit KT1.6.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.6: CCC Technical Conference Questions


MS. GIRVAN:  And then question 2, this is about the CP 198 project.  And I just wondered -- my question was:  Do you intend to undertake the project in 2011 and spend the full 1.9 million?

MR. FERGUSON:  We will be undertaking a project.  I would refer you to our response to Energy Probe's Interrogatory No. 16, which explains how we believe the project will unfold now in terms of a number of phases over a number of years, and the costs associated with that.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thanks.  The next question was about the blankets and other replacements, and I am just looking for what line that is.

MR. CLINTON:  The blankets and other replacements is line 10.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So I just wondered why there was a significant variance in 2010 versus what's forecast.

MR. CLINTON:  It's essentially the fact that there was a time sheet coding issue, which as -- upon review of the details going into that account, the blankets is treated as a miscellaneous account, and sometimes people just tend to hit their time there.  So we have gone through and reallocated to the proper account.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  I am not sure I understand that.

MR. CLINTON:  CP 222 is a blanket job, a catch-all, as some might like, for smaller jobs.

MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, I see.

MR. CLINTON:  One of our larger jobs, people were misinformed on where to charge their time to, so they were hitting it to 222.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. CLINTON:  We have rectified the process.

MS. GIRVAN:  So then the differential would have shown up in other accounts?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  And then the other is CP 218 and 219, which is line 13 -- it's line 14, isn't it?  It's 13 on this sheet and 14 on the previous sheet.  That's why I am a little bit confused.

Okay.  And I just wondered why that project came in $100,000 over budget.  And I am looking back at the original interrogatory, but now the numbers have changed again in the update.

So you are sort of pretty much in line with the update?  Okay.  That's fine, then.  I understand that now.

Okay.  And then can you explain the Boggertown Station project, and again, why there is a significant variance in that project?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes.  That project was planned to be completed and in-service in 2010.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, but it says --


MR. FERGUSON:  So there was approximately $100,000 spent on site preparation work.  Engineering constraints, that is our engineering staff to complete that station, we have to complete some engineering work, issue an RFP to retain a contractor to complete it.  That work couldn't be completed because of all the additional workload involved in responding to the Region for the VIVA project, so we made a decision to defer the Boggertown completion to 2011, so the remainder won't be happening.

That's why the variance is there, is that station will actually not get built in 2010.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Because if I look at KT1.3, I see that it says it's in service in 2010.  Does that mean you are including the 96,000 in the 2010?

MR. FERGUSON:  The chart will be corrected.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

And can you just elaborate on the 500 and -- I guess it's now 559,000 of leasehold improvements.  Can you point me to the evidence where I can find the description of those, the detailed description, please?

MR. FERGUSON:  If I could refer you to our response to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 9(c), there is a full description of the nature of the expenditures and the costs associated with it.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

Now, our No. 7 refers to CCC No. 5, and it requests an actual number of customer additions for 2010, and I believe that's been provided.

MS. HELT:  I don't have a copy of that.

MS. GIRVAN:  I have a copy, so we just need to mark it, I guess, as an exhibit.

MS. HELT:  If we can mark, then, a copy of a chart provided by Newmarket-Tay in response to CCC Technical Conference Question No. 7, it's an actual number of customer additions for 2010 chart.  If that can be marked as KT1.7.
EXHIBIT No. KT1.7:  CHART OF ACTUAL CUSTOMER ADDITIONS FOR 2010 IN RESPONSE TO CCC INTERROGATORY NO. 7.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  My next question is referring to CCC No. 6, and there it's a capital addition forecast.  And I am just wondering what the last column means where it says, "CP 276/TP 276 MDMR Capital CP 198 Removed)".  

So what have you done with that adjustment?

MR. FERGUSON:  Those are the removal of the VIVA project, because it really starts in 2011, which was the CP 198.  And I mentioned the response to Energy Probe IR 16.

The CP 276/TP 276 relates to purchasing of meters, smart meters, for the general service less than 50 class.  And these are three-phase meters, and I think late in the year we had placed an order for them.  The supplier indicated to us that they would not be available, so we have had to cancel that order and looking at resourcing those meters.

MR. HARPER:  Could I just interject for minute, Julie, because actually in going through the materials, I didn't have any questions on smart meters, because our understanding had been that the meters were all fully installed as of roughly mid 2010.  That was what we took away from the evidence, and if I could just -- maybe you could just clarify.

Obviously, that is not the case right now.  Maybe you can just clarify for us sort of what smart meters are left to be installed?

MR. FERGUSON:  Certainly.  In terms of the smart meter project, all single-phase meters have been installed.  So that would span 100 percent of the residential sector and approximately 10 percent of the small general service; that is, the general service less than 50.

The remainder of the general service less than 50 require a three-phase meter.  That is the meter that I referenced we were having -- we are now sourcing again, and those will be installed in 2011.

MR. HARPER:  Thank you very much.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And then what's the reference to the MDMR in that line?

MR. FERGUSON:  It should not be there.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks.  So that's -- it's just the meters that you are talking about, okay.

The next question refers to CCC 7, and the answer is -- it's talking about the VIVA costs, and you have said that you are requesting a deferral account for those costs.

Can you just explain to me how that deferral account would work, and when do you think the account would be cleared?

MR. FERGUSON:  We see the account working the same as the smart meter variance account or deferral account, which would capture the actual costs, cost of capital, amortization on any equipment that's placed in service during the course of the VIVA project.  And we would see it being cleared at our next cost-of-service rate filing, which right now we expect in 2014.

MS. GIRVAN:  So it's the revenue requirement impact of that project that you are looking at?

MR. FERGUSON:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  The next question is referring to smart meters, and I had some trouble following.  I think it's quite - really in CCC 9 and 10 and 11 - just exactly how these tables work.  So if you could explain to me exactly how this works.

And my questions really are, if you look in CCC 9, it talks about smart meter and time of use revenues, so I would just like to reconcile these and maybe take me through.  I am just looking for really what you have spent to date on smart meters.

MR. CLINTON:  To clarify, are you looking for expenses, capital, OM&A?

MS. GIRVAN:  Both.

MR. CLINTON:  I am going to try to walk you through this.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, thanks.

MR. CLINTON:  If we go to the first table in 9, we tried to lay out our total cap-ex and OM&A spend through the periods.  So in 2006, we had about $294,833.  2007, when we purchased the bulk of the commercial -- sorry, the residential smart meters, it was about 3.7 million installed.

Testing, installation and the follow-up for Tay happened in '8 with about $849,000.  2009, we spent about 473,000 in cap-ex, training, procurement, education of the public, et cetera.  We consider ourselves fully live as of September 30th; i.e., the capital project will be closed and you move into an operational phase.  So our costs incurred in 2009 are $211,000.

MS. GIRVAN:  Those are capital or operating?

MR. CLINTON:  No, it's under the operational costs.  So that becomes your ODS storage, your exception reporting, et cetera, et cetera.  Those are the normal operating costs.

2010, the projected, of course we had projected that we would be purchasing and installing the commercial meters, which did not happen.  And based on our original rate filing evidence, we predicted $373,000 of operational costs in 2010.  That is what the first chart is trying to explain.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. CLINTON:  The second chart, basically we are going through and updating it for the reflection of the fact that the commercial meters will not be there.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And, again, the reference to MDMR should be removed from that answer?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  So this is referring to adjustments related to the commercial meters?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So we have moved the total down from 7.9 million to 5.9 million?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.  The MDMR costs relate to the EDA document, which I believe we filed in confidence.  Now, the smart meter and TOU revenues is just showing the rated adders.

So in Tay, we got $7,000 in 2006, $67,000 in '7, 125 in '8, 125 in '9, and we are projecting $41,000 in '10 because we were hoping to have rates as of May 1st or April 1st, whatever date we put in.

As part of the last settlement conference on the Newmarket adder, we needed 200,000 to cover our OM&A costs, and that rate adder ended as of May 1st, 2010.  So we recovered our basically estimated $200,000.

MS. GIRVAN:  So total recovery of smart meter costs is $566,000?

MR. CLINTON:  That was the projected.  Since we haven't had rates in Tay, Tay is still collecting the rate adder.  So that number would be higher, and it will probably be around the 125,000, similar to the last two prior years.

MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, what's the 125,000?

MR. CLINTON:  That's what Tay gets as a rate adder on annualized basis.  So, like I said, for the projected 2010, we projected to have rates earlier in the year.  So when we had the rate order, we assumed the rate rider would go away for Tay and be part of the normal distribution revenue.

Since we don't have rates, they still have the rate adder rider in effect, and they are collecting revenue.  So the real revenue is closer to 125 for the whole year, for 2010.

Have I confused you?

MS. GIRVAN:  A little bit, yes.

MR. CLINTON:  41,000 is revenue recorded up to April.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. CLINTON:  125,000 would be the annualized amount.  Since we don't have rates, we are still collecting in Tay the rate adder for smart meters.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Then can you take me down to the next table in number 10, please?

MR. CLINTON:  Sure.  Can I have a second to refresh my memory on it?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  I believe what you have done in this is you have just taken the total capital spent and OM&A, and divided it by the number of customers?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes, yes.  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I just interrupt there –-

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- Julie, if you don't mind?

Why don't the totals match the previous tables?  The previous table had capital, adjusted capital, of 5.3 million over the period, and this one appears to have 5.6 million.  The OM&A matches, but the capital doesn't.

MR. CLINTON:  Yes, I was just noticing that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we know why?

MR. CLINTON:  Rounding, but let me just take a second to --


MR. SHEPHERD:  300,000 rounding?

MR. CLINTON:  Let me just take a second to look at that.  I'm just trying to figure that out right now.

MS. GIRVAN:  You said 5.6; it's 5.4.

MR. SHEPHERD:  5.4 plus 242, so 5.643. 

MR. CLINTON:  I am looking at it, Jay.  I'm looking at 5.4 plus 584, so that gives me 5.984 versus the 5.928.  So if I look at --


MS. GIRVAN:  You have a different version, I think.  There are two sets.  Right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is your Question No. 9.

MR. AIKEN:  That was answered twice, on a preliminary basis.

MS. GIRVAN:  And on a final basis.  That's why.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Never mind.

MS. GIRVAN:  Maybe we can just get some clarification later on that.

MR. CLINTON:  It's probably just rounding up, because I used estimated of cash outflow.

MS. GIRVAN:  Then my next question is just with respect to cost-benefit analysis.  Have you done any cost-benefit analysis regarding your smart meter program?

MR. FERGUSON:  No, we have not.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And are you aware of any provincial cost-benefit studies?

MR. FERGUSON:  I am not.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thanks.

Yeah, Bill would like to follow up.

MR. HARPER:  Just before you leave the smart meters, I just wanted to clarify sort of on a bigger picture.

In the original application, if I'm correct, you had proposed to include all of the smart meter application costs in the rate base, and there would no longer be a rate adder for smart meters going forward, if I am correct.

MR. CLINTON:  Correct.

MR. HARPER:  So that now we are in a position where, if I understand your response to the CCC interrogatories -- and let me look at this -- you are seeking to include all the residential smart meters in the rate base for 2010.  That's part of your response to Question No. 9 from CCC; is it --


MR. CLINTON:  Can you repeat the question, please?

MR. HARPER:  Now you are seeking to include -- it says in the response to No. 9 from CCC, you are seeking to include all the smart meter in TOU costs for the residential class in the revenue requirement, which means, I assume, you're now seeking to include all the residential meters in rate base for 2010?

MR. CLINTON:  That's correct.

MR. HARPER:  And then I would like to move to the general service side of the equation, where you said you roughly only got about 10 percent of them currently installed.

Your original proposal had been you had them all installed and they would all go in rate base.  What's your plan now in terms of on the general service side?  You want to maintain a rate adder for that?

I am just trying to clarify what your plan is for general service meters in terms of cost recovery for 2010.

MR. CLINTON:  It was our, I believe, belief, since we don't have those commercial meters in our rate base for the end of 2010, is going forward, we would use the deferral account.


MR. HARPER:  Okay.  And would you be proposing -- and would there be any rate riders for 2010 for smart meters?

MR. CLINTON:  No.  It would all be in the deferral account and then settled in 2014, whenever we are back in front of the Board as a disposition of said deferral account.

MR. HARPER:  Right, but all the meters in said deferral account would be general service meters?

MR. CLINTON:  Correct.

MR. HARPER:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  CCC --


MR. FERGUSON:  Could I just add one thing to that?

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.

MR. FERGUSON:  In terms of the -- that's the capital.  In terms of the OM&A, the operational, the TOU billing and such, all that is completed.  In other words, our -- OM&A-wise it's business as usual.  The addition of those GS less-than-50 meters basically equates to the same thing as a meter change to us now.  So once they are in and communicating, they just fit in to the billing regime and the operational cost.

MR. HARPER:  Right.  So from -– for the smart meter deferral account, you would only be recording capital for 2011, and you wouldn't be -- but you wouldn't be recording any OM&A expense for either 2010 or 2011?

MR. CLINTON:  Could you repeat the question, please?

MR. HARPER:  Actually, maybe I should have done it for the smart meter account -- for the smart meter deferral accounts, you'll be continuing -- and maybe I didn't ask the question correctly.  You'll be recording -- there won't be any OM&A costs related to smart meters, I think is what you are saying, being recorded in the smart meter deferral account.  They're all --


MR. CLINTON:  For commercial smart meters?

MR. HARPER:  Yeah.  For any smart meters, commercial or residential.

MR. CLINTON:  We, in our original application, are requesting OM&A recovery of costs on the residential smart meters.  The infrastructure -- or the processes will be OM&A processes, so even when the capital ones are finished, installed and go live, the infrastructure would be there for an incremental adder, which we would -- it would be OM&A.  So in other words, if when you bill a small commercial customer, those costs would –- a marginal up-tick.  Yes, they would probably go into the deferral account.

MR. HARPER:  So there would be OM&A costs for –-

MR. CLINTON:  I am hoping '11.

MR. HARPER:  '11, right.  That's what I'm saying.  There would be OM&A costs for 2011 being recorded in the deferral account?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. HARPER:  But they would be OM&A costs related to the billing of the new commercial meters that are going to be installed?

MR. CLINTON:  Right.

MR. HARPER:  That is just what I was just trying to clarify.

And on the capital side, it will only be the capital related to those commercial meters that will be going into the deferral account?

MR. CLINTON:  Right.

MR. HARPER:  Thank you. 

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Moving on to our Question 11, it refers to CCC No. 20, and I think I know the answer.

I just wanted to know what the actual level of wage increases was for 2010.  Is that 3 percent?

MR. FERGUSON:  It is 3 percent, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thanks.

And the next question is referring to CCC No. 21, and it says that you are not making any challenges to this application due to the new CDM code.  I guess you are saying in the future you will?

MR. FERGUSON:  No, at this time, we are planning on contracting for all CDM management and delivery of programs.  So there is no change to this application.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So I was looking for -- do you use existing employees now to deliver CDM programs?

MR. FERGUSON:  No, we don't.  It's all contract, and we continue to -- we will continue to follow that in the future, if -- depending on how this CDM code and programs evolve, we may choose to change that position in the future, and so we may apply through the CDM code.

I am not fully familiar with it, but I believe there is an opportunity to make application to the Board to adjust your plan and the resources you need to fulfill that plan on a going-forward basis.

So that's really what I am saying, is we may choose to do that in the future.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Now, the next question refers to Board Staff No. 8.  I just need clarification on how the dumb or existing meters that you have taken out of service are depreciated.

Are they depreciated over 30 years?  Are they depreciated over five --


MR. FERGUSON:  They are depreciated over 25 years, so they have been depreciating on a 25-year amortization schedule.  They simply continue on that schedule.

MS. GIRVAN:  Is that consistent with what the Board's policy is?

MR. FERGUSON:  That was consistent with -- I don't know the case number.  That was consistent with the generic hearing on smart meters that was held with the original 13.  I don't have that EB number, though.

MS. GIRVAN:  I guess some utilities do it differently.  I think Hydro One depreciates them over five years.

Okay.  Thanks.  Board Staff No. 15, my next question is about that.  Were there any vacant positions in 2010? 

MR. FERGUSON:  No, there were not.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And just referring to Board Staff No. 21, I just wanted a general overview why the OM&A budget is increasing so significantly in 2010.

MR. FERGUSON:  I direct you to our response to Schools Interrogatory No. 23, which discusses the OM&A basically for the line, the outside work, if you like, and also to Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 2 of the prefiled evidence, which discusses the cost drivers and the billing and collecting areas.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you very much.  My last question is referring to Board Staff 24, and it's about the LEAP costs, and I just wondered what Newmarket is doing in this winter period, 2010/2011, with respect to LEAP.

MR. FERGUSON:  We are not seeking recovery in this application of the LEAP costs.  There was a webcast conducted on November 25th and 26th by Board Staff concerning LEAP training, and in the questions and answers, question and answer 8, there was a question raised about using a variance account to track those LEAP costs.  And the response was, if you believe you need one, then apply for it.

So in light of this information, we will now be seeking to have a variance account established to track those costs.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.

MR. FERGUSON:  And we have engaged a social agency to deliver LEAP in our service area.

MS. GIRVAN:  Great.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
Questions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to actually start with some follow-up questions with respect to the questions asked by others, and then I will come to my list.

My first follow-up is on VECC technical conference Question No. 13.  You indicated that you have a two-year notification period to the insurance provider, and so my follow-up question is:  So you haven't notified them, right, that you are going to change insurance providers, because it's Meiri?

MR. CLINTON:  We haven't notified them that we are going to go out yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are now currently locked in to the end of 2012; right?

MR. CLINTON:  That is my understanding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The lock-in is not with the insurance company.  It's with Meiri?  Your deal with Meiri is you don't exit with the two-year notice?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  My second follow-up question is with respect to KT1.3, and this is Mr. Aiken's Question No. 4 or 5, I think.  He was asking about the leasehold approvements.  And I am trying to follow this.

Your original budget had 95,000 in it?

MR. CLINTON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did that also assume the $254,000 that had already been spent in 2009?

MR. CLINTON:  The 259 was an actual spend, not a budgeted amount.  It was an actual spend in 2009.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The point is the 94 was in addition to that 254; right?

MR. CLINTON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you changed -- you made a decision to do the leaseholds this year.  They were otherwise going to be done next year?  When were they going to be done?  In your original budget that had 95, when were the other $700,000 going to be done?

MR. FERGUSON:  We had planned to do leasehold improvements incrementally over a number of years, but in this 2009 and 2010, the situation had gotten to the point where we decided to just move ahead and get them done.

We were having issues, plumbing issues, gas leak issues, floor cracking in the ladies' lunchroom, and that is why we moved ahead, got an architect and had the building looked at and got it done, because we were coming to safety issues with staff and the public.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So all of this stuff would have been done, in any case, next year or the year after that, the year after that?   You didn't add a bunch of new stuff?

MR. FERGUSON:  No, we didn't add any new stuff.  We knew we had things to look after.  What we did do, though, Mr. Shepherd, was got an architect and said, Let's have a look and let's see what needs to be done, because the situation was becoming intolerable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that decision was made early this year?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes, it was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When did you file your application?

MR. CLINTON:  I think it went in in June.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had already done some of this work by June; right?

MR. CLINTON:  Some of the work had been completed by June.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So why wasn't it in your budget?

MR. CLINTON:  Because we were trying to get the application in, and the rate base was the first section we did, and we had already redone it about three times to reflect the 2009 capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It was just like, We are close enough right now, we will fix it later?

MR. CLINTON:  We are trying to get it in to appease everybody.

MS. HELT:  Just to confirm, the application was filed on July 22nd, 2010.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then still following up on that same question, you now have a two-year extension on your lease, so it goes now to '17 -- 2017, because it was five years --


MR. CLINTON:  2012.

MR. SHEPHERD:  2012.  But you are depreciating over five years?

MR. FERGUSON:  We used, may I call it, a notional depreciation of five years.  We assumed a five-year amortization for a leasehold improvements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your policy is to depreciate over the remainder of the lease, right, your general policy?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are saying, but, as a practical matter, you don't think you are leaving in 2012, so to depreciate the stuff over three years would be unreasonable?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes.  As a practical matter, I think we are there for a long time, but, as I indicated before, we have a two-year extension, which takes us to the end of 2012.  We fully expect to negotiate a further five-year extension, which would take us to 2017.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The actual physical useful life of these leasehold improvements, assuming that you are still there, is longer than that, right, longer than 2017?

MR. FERGUSON:  If they don't break, I expect so, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I have two or three other follow-ups.  The first is with respect to Energy Probe technical conference Question No. 6, which you answered with KT1.3.

And KT1.3 appears to have a substantial reduction in your capital expenditures for the test year.  Do we have in the evidence a revenue requirement work form that's consistent with this new capital budget?

MR. CLINTON:  No, you do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide one?

MR. CLINTON:  I will do my best.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  We will note that as undertaking JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.1:  TO PROVIDE REVENUE REQUIREMENT WORK FORM CONSISTENT WITH NEW CAPITAL BUDGET.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And just to be clear on that, there is a number of things you have changed over the last little while.  Since the last revenue requirement work form we saw, there is a number of things that have been changed on both capital and OM&A.  If you could build as many of the material ones in as possible, that would be useful, so that we have as clear a snapshot as possible.

MR. CLINTON:  We will try to accommodate that for the settlement conference, if that's acceptable.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  That's good.

Then the next one is still on KT1.3.  In Energy Probe technical conference Question No. 16, you were asked about contributions and grants, and you said that you have netted them in the figures.  Now, on KT1.3 I see you have netted them in the actuals.  Are they also netted in the 2010 budget figures?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the columns are consistent?

MR. CLINTON:  You are comparing apples and apples.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Perfect.  And then last is in CCC -- I think it was Question -- Technical Conference Question No. 9.  And it was to do with the deferral account you have requested for VIVA expenditures.

Do you recall that?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do I understand correctly that what you are saying is that this will not qualify for the incremental capital module during your IRM period?

MR. FERGUSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so why is it different from other capital spending during the IRM period?  Help me understand why this is -- this particular item should have a deferral account treatment, whereas other capital growth would not.

MR. FERGUSON:  VIVA is -- we have no choice but to participate.  It is a mandated project.

So it comes out of the provincial Places to Grow, Metrolinx, and the expansion of rapid transit in Ontario.  It's similar, it's akin to the smart meter project, where it was basically legislated that we would do that work.

I look at the IRM as more -- it's -- what would you call it?  Normal course of business within the distribution business.  That is:  Okay, I had a substation failure, I had a number of poles knocked down.  Okay, if I suffered enough of that, then the IRM would kick in.

This is not this normal course of business in the distribution.  The VIVA project is probably the biggest single construction infrastructure project that's ever been seen in Newmarket before.  I have no choice but to participate in that.  It is not business as usual for me to do that.  Similar to smart meters, it is not business as usual.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, but there are lots of things you do that are not business as usual.  You have major road widenings, or you have a big new subdivision coming in, and these are all completely involuntary expenditures.

What I don't understand is how it is different from that type of thing.

MR. FERGUSON:  Big new subdivisions, whatever that comes in, is subject to a financial evaluation, and it's a cost-sharing between the developer and us.  Okay?

And they happen normally phased, and I agree that is business as usual.  We are set up to do that.  We also have been.  Okay?

Road widenings, in the normal course, we have always accommodated.  This is not a road widening in the normal course; it is a much bigger road widening.  Okay?

And therefore, we believe we should recover the costs of it.  We -- under the normal course, we wouldn't participate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So now I want to go to my prepared questions.

What time, MS. Helt, do you want to take a break?

MS. HELT:  I have -- you'd like a break now?

MR. CLINTON:  Can we have a break, please?  Just a 10 –- five-minute one?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't we take our break now?

MS. HELT:  Sure.  We will break until 10:35. 

--- Recess taken at 10:20 a.m.


--- On resuming at 10:42 a.m.

MS. HELT:  If we can resume?  Mr. Shepherd, you were about to proceed with your technical conference questions, and I think this would be an appropriate time to mark those questions from the School Energy Coalition as Exhibit KT1.8.

EXHIBIT NO. KT1.8:  SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION TECHNICAL CONFERENCE QUESTIONS.

MR. CLINTON:  Mr. Shepherd, before you start, may I make a correction to the record?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. CLINTON:  Earlier we stated that the MDMR shouldn't have been in the title.  We have talked about it over the break, and in that number it was -- it does include the capital component of the MDMR costs.  So that includes the commercial smart meters, plus the commercial development from the smart meter entity.  Those charges are outlined in the confidential letter that was filed.

And, more importantly, if you turn to the prefiled evidence, in Exhibit 2, tab 4, schedule 3, page 13 of 16, you will see that in the capital we have a smart meter entity charge at about $8.31, EDA letter of February 26th, 2010, for approximately $268,000.

So there is smart meter development costs forecasted in the 2010 test year, and, again, those have not been incurred, so they have been removed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So School's technical Question No. 1 relates to our Interrogatory No. 2, which refers to the administrative structure review report.  Can you tell us what the status of that process is?

MR. FERGUSON:  The status is unchanged from the response to the interrogatory.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay, but does "pending" mean you haven't started yet, or you are working on it, or you have hired somebody, or what's the story?

MR. FERGUSON: "Pending" is we haven't started on it yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, wasn't this -- so this has been, like, three years that it's been planned, but it hasn't been started yet, or more?

MR. FERGUSON:  The review requires some significant work, on the part of myself and my CFO and COO, to provide information and direction to BDO before they can proceed, and at this time we have not had time available to do that preparatory work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it BDO or BDR?

MR. FERGUSON:  It's BDO.

MR. CLINTON:  BDO Dunwoody chartered accounts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  Question No. 2 deals with the School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 3, where we asked for your studies, memoranda, correspondence or other documents related to capital investment planning for an 11-year period.  And you said there are none.

And I guess I assumed that you must have some documentation of your capital investment planning over that 11-year period.

MR. FERGUSON:  The documentation we have is the annual capital budget submitted to the board of directors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't have any rationale or plan or analysis or presentations?  Nothing?

MR. FERGUSON:  No, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How do you get to a budget if you have no documentation as to how you have done your analysis?

MR. FERGUSON:  We have --


MR. CLINTON:  May I ask a clarifying question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. CLINTON:  Are you asking for the detailed analysis of how we say this pole line should be done here or this subdivision done there?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  This is about the planning side of it, not the implementation side.  So you make a decision to prioritize these ten projects in 2007, let's say.  To make that decision, you have to do some form of analysis, number one, and then when you go to your board of directors to get the budget approved, you don't just presumably hand them the budget.  You give them a presentation or some sort of analysis as to why that's the right budget.

So it's that documentation I am looking for, the stuff around the budget itself.  Do you have stuff like that?

MR. FERGUSON:  No, we don't.  We prepare a preliminary budget, discuss it amongst the management staff to look at the need.  That is not documented.  We are not that big a utility in terms of people.  So the documentation -- then we call them and take them to the board as a capital budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the only thing you present to your board is the budget itself?  You don't present any justification documentation, any PowerPoint, nothing?

MR. FERGUSON:  No, we do not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. FERGUSON:  We are developing, as is in the prefiled evidence, GIS, and, as part of that, a more formal asset management practice policy, because we recognize that is where, for regulatory and for tracking purposes, the industry is moving to.  So the practice right now will change and will evolve.  That has been, though, Mr. Shepherd, the legacy practice of the utility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you don't have any asset condition assessments, any asset management plans, anything like that?

MR. FERGUSON:  We are -- we have undertaken asset condition surveys at this point and are developing the asset management plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's current.  In the past, you haven't been doing that?

MR. FERGUSON:  No, we have not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is new?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Moving on to follow-up to SEC No. 6, and we asked for a response to an undertaking from the previous proceeding.  It's not on the Board's website.  We never got a copy of it, and so we would like a response to that undertaking.

MR. FERGUSON:  We can't locate it either.  In any event, it goes to the question of the 2008 depreciation and the depreciation issue that was identified in that previous proceeding, which was corrected in that proceeding, and we question the value of providing this undertaking at this time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you believe you did provide it at the time?  In the previous proceeding, you did provide it or not?

MR. CLINTON:  I believe we did provide it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't have a copy?

MR. CLINTON:  I can't find a copy.  I can't currently find a copy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Our Question No. 4 refers to our original Interrogatory No. 7, and we asked for presentations or other documents to your board of directors with respect to the particular practice you had with respect to vacations and salary in lieu of vacations.

So my follow-up question is we asked:  What presentations are there?  I assume your answer is there weren't any?

MR. FERGUSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your board was aware that you had this practice?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that was all done verbally?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes.  It's at the authority of myself, the president.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not my question.  Was your board of directors aware that you were doing it?

MR. CLINTON:  The board of directors is aware, because it comes through the audit committee, and it was concern of the auditor that we were spending too much time working.

MR. SHEPHERD:  However, your board has still approved this practice, right?

MR. CLINTON:  Their understanding of it, yes. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So did your audit committee make any decisions about what you should do about this?

MR. CLINTON:  It was all verbal, and basically there was -- everybody was informed that we had to pay out some vacations on occasion.  We don't do that of late.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that because your audit committee told you you shouldn't?

MR. CLINTON:  No, that's because I am trying to take vacation.  I have triplets, you know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  It's an unusual practice to pay extra salary instead of people taking vacations, and so I am trying to understand what your board has said about it.

Obviously, your auditor has said:  Bad idea, right?  Isn't that what you just said?

MR. FERGUSON:  The board hasn't commented on it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They have approved it?

MR. FERGUSON:  They have approved it?  No.  It's at my discretion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So now I am confused.

I asked you:  Has your board approved it?  You said:  Yes.  Now you have said:  No, they haven't.

MR. FERGUSON:  They are aware of the practice, so they haven't disapproved it, but there is no formal resolution of the board, authorizing the payout of vacation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's minuted anywhere that they have even ever talked about it?

MR. FERGUSON:  No, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In board meetings or in audit committee meetings, it's not minuted anywhere?

MR. FERGUSON:  No, sir. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Were any amounts paid in 2010 under this practice?

MR. CLINTON:  Not yet.  We are out of 2010. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So none?  Zero?  Thank you.

So you haven't terminated the practice, you are just trying not to do it anymore?

MR. FERGUSON:  It was -- the practice primarily has been caused by the workload involved with the cost-of-service rate applications that we have been through in the last couple of years.  So typically, it will reduce after this, and I expect that it will be minimal in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you did a cost-of-service application in 2010 and you didn't pay anything out, so presumably you have stopped it, right?

MR. FERGUSON:  We are definitely trying to, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  Okay.  I understand.

Our Question No. 5 relates to School Energy Coalition No. 10, and this refers to your deal with the Town of Newmarket with respect to street lighting capital and maintenance.

Our written question was what are the terms of your deal, because you don't have a written agreement, right?  But presumably you have a deal?

MR. FERGUSON:  An understanding, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what are the terms?

MR. FERGUSON:  That the street lighting service, the provision of it is provided at cost, at our fully burdened cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have the discretion to decide whatever that cost is each year?  Or does the town decide what they are willing to pay you?  How does it work?  How does the price work?

MR. FERGUSON:  We maintain -- repair street lights that are out, and that's the cost, and we bill them for that and they pay us for it. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you bill them on the basis of what you perceive to be your costs and they just pay it, or whatever you decide, they pay it?

MR. FERGUSON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't you have an agreement?

MR. FERGUSON:  We are striving to get one.  We are working very hard at it.  We are having -- to be honest -- we are having difficulty with responses from the municipality.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why do you still provide a service if they won't sign a deal?  You wouldn't with anybody else, right?

MR. FERGUSON:  No, but it's a legacy issue, if you like.  It was provided -- if I can take you back to pre-restructuring, the utility owned the street light system in Newmarket.  As part of the -- and thus maintained it.  As part of the restructuring, the street light system was left with the town, if you like, through the transfer by-law, so now because of this clear ownership was not allowed by the LDC, so the town retained ownership of the street lighting system.  The utility continued with the maintenance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just because it was convenient, it was the practice that you were following?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes, and that is still the practice today, Mr. Shepherd. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. FERGUSON:  And we are striving to get that changed, to make changes to the whole service.  I think I noted in one interrogatory response, within nine months, I want an agreement and I want some changes made in terms of providing that service, just because of this.  There are issues around it and we need it clarified.  We need a clear agreement so that we can move ahead in the future.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is the municipality not responding to your requests for a deal, for formalizing it, if you like?

MR. FERGUSON:  I can't speak for the municipality, so I will make that statement on the record.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  I understand.

MR. FERGUSON:  Okay?  What I see is the municipality very, very involved in municipality business, and the cost of street lighting is not significant enough to bring it to a head, so I have –-

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just no sense of urgency?

MR. FERGUSON:  Exactly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  Okay.

MR. FERGUSON:  But I will clarify.  I have raised it specifically with my board of directors, and also with the councils of both Newmarket and Tay, that I need to get this done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  School Energy Coalition No. 6 refers to SEC No. 12.

We asked for the presentations and reports that you provided to the board when you were getting your approval for the 2010 OM&A and capital budgets.

Presumably, you didn't just provide them with the budgets and say:  Here you are.  Please stamp these.

Presumably, you gave them some background information, and we know from CCC No. 25 that you do provide some presentations to your board, because we have one right there.

So what presentation did you -- or presentations did you provide to your board when you got the 2010 budget approved?  And could we have them, please?

MR. FERGUSON:  The presentations for OM&A, the process is the same as for capital.  The presentation that was given to CCC was a board update also to the shareholder, indicating that the board was aware.  We provided the board with the rate filing at the time, so that was their awareness.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, in 2009 you provided them with the rate filing?

MR. CLINTON:  It was the preliminary original rate filing that we did.  Of course, we have updated it since then, before the final one went in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had a preliminary rate filing in October 2009?

MR. CLINTON:  We had a preliminary bunch of numbers in 2009, right?  You knew the cost of capital, et cetera, et cetera, et cetera.  So we actually had tried to work the model out by the fall of 2009.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are saying that nothing has been provided to your board of directors since then?

MR. FERGUSON:  That is correct, except for the...

MR. CLINTON:  Just let us work out a time line.  If we understand your question correctly, you are asking what we show our board of directors concerning our OM&A and financial position?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your OM&A and capital budgets.

MR. CLINTON:  The OM&A and capital budgets are approved with the first quarter financials.  We do not make changes to those capital budgets or OM&A budgets from that period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  But when you present them to your board of directors -- so this would be in April, presumably, right, you present them to your board, roughly?

MR. CLINTON:  Roughly, April, May.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you present them, you don't just present the raw numbers and say, Here are the numbers.  You must present some form of justification, just as you did in October 2009 when you justified the rate filing.  You have to give them some reason to approve it.


So I am looking for the justification document.

MR. CLINTON:  Oh, okay, I got you.  It's basically verbal, because we sit down and we say, Okay, what was the budget last year, what it's going to be this year and what are your changes?  And usually, right, there are not a lot of changes, because your OM&A is consistent, usually, period to period, and our revenues are usually consistent period to period unless we come in for a rate filing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's not true this year.  You asked for big increase in your OM&A and capital budgets this year.

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what did you give your board to support that?

MR. CLINTON:  I actually explained the smart meter costs.  If you look at why we have that $1.1 million increase, which is outlined in the prefiled evidence, I would basically walk them through that and I would talk to that number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And no documentation is provided to your board?

MR. CLINTON:  Are you meaning -- like, I am trying to figure out you are asking for the documentation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In October 2009, you provided them with a PowerPoint presentation?

MR. CLINTON:  That was to the shareholder.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then your actual approval of your budget, then, is actually done by your shareholder?  Is that what you do?

MR. CLINTON:  No, we do shareholder update just to show the shareholder what we are doing, et cetera, et cetera, et cetera.  That is what you saw in that PowerPoint.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that included the rate filing?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In October 2009.  So presumably before you actually made the rate filing in July 2010, you went back to somebody.  Was it the shareholder or the board?

MR. CLINTON:  Back to somebody for what? I am trying to help here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  To get approval.  We want to file for X million dollars of rates.  Somebody has to say yes, don't they?

MR. CLINTON:  I think we updated the board at every board meeting where the rate filing is at.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But nothing in writing?

MR. CLINTON:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they never saw the rate filing or a summary of the rate filing before you filed it?

MR. CLINTON:  They saw that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  October 2009?

MR. CLINTON:  No.  When we were done and sent the rates in, we also gave every board member a copy of the rate filing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The entire rate filing?

MR. CLINTON:  It's available to them.  Yes, we actually printed about 12, 14 copies.  Did they read it?  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And nothing to the shareholder?

MR. FERGUSON:  No, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you had any -- I am trying to avoid getting out of what's appropriate here, so stop me if I am crossing the line.  I don't think so.

Have you had any discussions with your board about how you provide information to them?  It's very unusual to have a completely undocumented relationship with your board of directors.  Normally boards of directors require you provide written substantiation for major things you are asking them to approve, and so I find this very unusual, as you can see from the tone of my voice.

And I am wondering whether your board has at any time or your shareholders at any time said, Look, why aren't you following normal practice here?

MR. FERGUSON:  We would have to define "normal practice" to answer that question, but I don't believe that there is anything -- this is the practice we followed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the last part of this follow-up is:  The 2010 OM&A and capital budgets that were approved by your board of directors in April or May, are they identical to the budgets in your rate filing application?

MR. CLINTON:  I believe they are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.  SEC Question No. 7 is actually much simpler than this.  It refers to our No. 14.  And in your response, you had your tax rate as 33.5 percent for each of 2008 and 2009.  Are those numbers correct?

MR. CLINTON:  I used a proxy tax rate, so they are not the actual tax rates used, but I was doing my best to answer your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the actual tax rate for 2009 was considerably lower; right?  Was it 31.5?

MR. CLINTON:  Mr. Shepherd, I cannot currently remember the number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Presumably it's in your filing somewhere?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Our Question No. 8 relates to our original Question No. 21(a), and in 21(a) we are talking about your adding people to a particular -- the engineering group.  And you have two union people in the group -- previously you had two union people in the group who had overtime -- one of whom had overtime, right, or I guess two of them had overtime, and two management people who you say also had overtime, but they had no cost associated with it.

Do we know how much overtime the management people had?  I mean, the essence of the problem here was that the group was stretched too thin and they were having to work too long hours; right?  So you had to add more people to get it down to a reasonable level.

Do you have some information on what the management people were doing, the extra work they were doing, that justified adding the person or people?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes.  In Exhibit 4, tab 1, schedule 2, page 5, because the hours are unpaid, they are not tracked through the payroll system.  So I don't keep track of my hours.  I should, but I don't.  To be honest with you, I don't log the overtime hours.  The work hours are recorded so that my time can be properly allocated to the different activities, none of which -- so in that exhibit, what you will see is we came up with what we thought or what we believe is a reasonable estimate of the overtime hours worked by management.  So that would be a minimum of 1,200 hours on an annual basis. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So those two people worked on average 50 hours a month overtime?

MR. FERGUSON:  That is correct. 

MR. CLINTON:  Can I clarify that, just for a quick second?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. CLINTON:  It's more like 10 hours a week, which is about 40 to 50 hours a month.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It would be 12 hours a week, in fact, but who's counting?

All right.  SEC No. 89 refers to 21(e) of our original questions, and in 21(e), what we asked you for is the details of the change in the burden costs.  And you gave a general description, but you didn't tell us how the numbers actually changed.

Do you have calculations, before and after calculations?

MR. CLINTON:  We have a general calculation.  Essentially, we operate burden as a clearing account, so if it starts to have either a debit or a credit balance, we know that the burdened rate is either too high or too low.

In this case, the burdened rate went from approximately 74 to $77, to make sure it was still in balance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So but hang on a second.  You set the burden rate at the beginning of the year, right?

MR. CLINTON:  I try to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's based on the net for the last year.  Whatever worked out in the clearing account, you say:  Well, how many hours is that?  Okay, that means it's X dollars?

MR. CLINTON:  I do use the prior year as an estimate or a proxy.  I try to.  With –- then, of course, you have to make some provisions for increases and decreases in fuel or those sorts of items, and wages and changes in benefits, et cetera, et cetera, et cetera. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it sounds like it's not a specific calculation, like a formula.  It's rather an estimate.  You take the information you have, you use your judgment as to what a reasonable number will be to clear you to zero next year.

MR. CLINTON:  Of course, the base is the journeyman lineman rate. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I understand.  Thank you. 

Our Question No. 10 refers to our original 21(h), and this is the -- you have an initiative at Tay that should improve your collection, make your collections more efficient, and what I don't understand -- you have said it's not expected to reduce costs, and we don't understand why it wouldn't reduce costs.

MR. FERGUSON:  In the Tay office for billing and collecting, there are only two staff.  So there is minimal opportunity to make a reduction in cost. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if there is only two staff, why would you put in an IVR at all?

MR. CLINTON:  There are five inside staff in Tay, just to clarify for the record.  Two are involved in billing and collecting.

You are asking why we would spend $10,000 for the IVR system.  Well, case in point, had it been working yesterday when Tay went dead, we could have picked up their phone lines and then advised all the people when people were calling in or trying to call in.

When everything goes dead up there, we have one phone line for people to call in.  With an IVR system, we can toggle down here or we can toggle up there, so if something happens in Newmarket, I can switch phones.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah, okay.  So it's really to do with integrating Newmarket and Tay, as opposed to making Tay more efficient?

MR. CLINTON:  It's to provide better customer service, because Tay has actually in the last year has had two major outages which have killed the phones.  One was when the tornado went through in Midland and it actually affected Tay very badly, and the second was just yesterday when Hydro One dropped the lines.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Our Question No. 11 relates to SEC No. 22, and what we asked you for was your incentive plan documents.  So an incentive plan has some sort of formal document that says:  Here is what the rules are. 

MR. FERGUSON:  There are, again, no formal documents.  This is only a practice of the utility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this sounds like sort of -- tell me if this is right, because I didn't get this from the application, but once you say that it, it twigs to me that, you know, there is sort of an old-school bonus system, in which basically it's entirely discretionary.

You look at -- you do your performance review for an employee for the year, and you say:  You know, you did a really good job this year.  I am going to give you a $3,000 bonus.  And it's entirely judgment; no formula, no calculation.  You just know what the people are doing.

Is that sort of what we are talking about here?

MR. FERGUSON:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. FERGUSON:  I seek an amount from the board of directors for my CFO and COO to provide bonus or incentive to their staff, and that amount of money is used based on their manager's performance as part of their individual review.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But my point is there is no formula to calculate how much each person gets.  The manager makes a judgment call on what -- how good their performance is, and then allocates the pot accordingly?

MR. CLINTON:  We are just trying to get the right answer for the record. 

MR. FERGUSON:  I would more liken it to be it's a policy -- or a practice, sorry, but it's a structured incentive practice, and it has a basis in the mission and objectives of the utility.  So there is documented mission and objectives of the utility, and they form the basis of the incentive.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am contrasting, Mr. Ferguson -- and I am not saying anything negative about how you are doing it, because indeed, it's how I did it all my entire career when I managed people, so I understand how it works -- but there is quite a number of utilities that have a very formulaic process in which they say:  Your maximum bonus is 50 percent of your salary, and your bonus is calculated as this many points for this objective, and it's -- if you get 37 percent of the objective, then you get so many points, et cetera, and it's just math.

That's not what you do?

MR. FERGUSON:  No.  I have worked at places that do that and spend more money on structuring the incentive plan than people get in the incentive. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's why we have consultants.  So the way you do it instead is you go to your board and you say:  Look, my operations group has done a very good job this year.  We had some challenges and we ended up with these results, which were very good, and so I think that a pool of $38,000 for that group would be a good number.

And they talk to you about it to say whether that's okay, and then you go to your VP -- your COO, and you say:  Can you make a recommendation as to how this pot, $38,000, should be split up amongst your people?  Who deserves to get some of this?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes.  The only clarification I make to that is that pool doesn't vary from year to year.  In other words, it does a bit, but it's a percentage of the payroll of that group.  So it would fluctuate only if there was a general wage increase in that.

So I don't go -- to clarify, I wouldn't go to the board one year and ask for $10,000, and next year come back and say, We were really good boys; give me $20,000.

So you would see -- there was a response in one of the IRs about the amount that's used.  I think it was Energy Probe, and you will see that amount was fairly consistent year to year.  So it's more:  Limit the amount and reward proper performance where it's been seen.

So a manager could see an increase or decrease in a given year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you have exceptional performance from an individual, you are more likely to reward that through a salary adjustment than a bonus, because the bonus pool is more --


MR. FERGUSON:  No, the salary -- there isn't a reward in salary.  In other words, there is no increments in salary to recognize performance.  The only recognition of performance is through the bonus.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Doesn't that make it more difficult to retain good people if you can't pay people more salary for being better at their job?  I mean, I am not talking about unionized people now.  Obviously that's more difficult.

MR. FERGUSON:  We haven't had a problem with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Our Question No. 12 relates to Staff No. 2.  And you will see from the question that we just had a difficult time understanding the back and forth between -- or the reconciliation that you provided, and I wonder if you could just take a couple of minutes and walk us through the major items and explain how you have done this.  Can you do that?

MR. CLINTON:  I can, but I had some questions for Christie, so Christie and I were going to take -- or Mr. Clark and I were going to take this discussion off line and explain among ourselves, and then we can probably put something a little better together.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why don't we just defer that until you're ready?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes, because I had some clarifying questions for Christie, so if that's okay?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Then our next question was with respect to Staff No. 5.  I just want to make sure I understand that your forecast amortization is based on half-year rule, but your actual amortization is based on in-service month?

MR. CLINTON:  Confirmed.  Sorry, correct; confirmed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so your past data is not apples to apples with your forecast data?

MR. CLINTON:  That would be a correct statement, but if you are -- in practicality, most of the times the in-service dates were probably around June or September.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you expect that your past data probably approximates half-year rule, anyway?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.  And I just do a quick back-of-the-envelope to check every year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Our next question, No. 13, relates to Staff No. 5 -- no, sorry, No. 14, Staff No. 10(c).  And 10(c) is asking about the growth forecast that you are using for your area and asking you to compare it to the regional government's growth forecast.

You said you were preparing that response.  Have 
you -- do you have it yet?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes, that response was filed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, it has been filed?  Okay.

MR. FERGUSON:  It was filed.  If you like, I can just -- the highlight of it is the two forecasts are almost identical.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, wonderful.

MS. HELT:  Mr. Taylor, can you just confirm when that was filed?  I don't recall seeing it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I looked for it, too, and I didn't find it, so...

MR. FERGUSON:  I can't confirm.  The date I have that the response was prepared was November 25th, 2010.

MR. TAYLOR:  I don't have a specific date with me right now, but I can look into it.

MR. FERGUSON:  But I have that response here.  We can always copy it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We need to get it on the record, that's all.

MS. HELT:  All right, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Our Question No. 15 relates to Staff 16(b).  Staff 16(b) says that you hired somebody October 12th, 2010, and, as a result, 77 percent of their costs should be included in the test year.  I don't understand.

MR. FERGUSON:  The way it is worded, it actually indicates that there is a 77 percent cost reduction.  So, therefore, the cost is 23 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I see.  It's intended to mean that there is 23 percent included in the -- or 23 percent you are actually going to bear in 2010?

MR. FERGUSON:  That's correct.

MR. CLINTON:  And if we amortize that over four years, instead of 135, it would be about 109,000 per annum.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I see.  If you said, okay, we take 23 percent of one year and 100 percent of four years and divide them by five, you get 109?

MR. CLINTON:  I thought it was 4.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, 4.

MR. CLINTON:  I could have done the math wrong, but I thought it was 4.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  But what you are saying is you have included 100 percent of the cost of this position in your budget?

MR. CLINTON:  The original rate filing, 100 percent was in the budget.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sixteen relates to Staff 27(g).  And tell me if I understand correctly, that what your response -- your response is saying basically that street lighting and USL should have lower costs, because you have lower billing and collecting costs.  They are cheaper to deal with, because they pay; true?  I am oversimplifying, but that's...

MR. FERGUSON:  Well, that's part of it, but the other difference, the other uniqueness, about these -- they are unique, in that it's one customer to many loads.  Okay, normally when you deal with an account or a customer, you are dealing with one account, one specific load.

In terms of street lighting and USL, it might be one account or one customer and a number of loads.  So there is a difference there, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- and you will see where I am going with this.  Would it be true that the same thing would be -- the same cost reduction would apply to schools, for example?  You have two school boards with 37 schools, and they always pay.  And there are two customers.

MR. FERGUSON:  Each school is an individual load, though.  And each school is billed -- has an individual bill.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you actually only have two customers, right, because it's actually the school board that pays you?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you don't make any cost adjustment for that?

MR. FERGUSON:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then our next question is No. 17. It is with respect to Energy Probe No. 13(a).  And you explained how your -- there was a little bit of confusion about your tree trimming, whether it was capital and operating and all that sort of stuff, and then you explained it more.  But I think I am actually a little more confused now with one thing.

I can't tell whether your cycle is an inspection cycle, a three-year inspection cycle, or a three-year trimming cycle.

MR. FERGUSON:  It's both.  There is a three-year inspection cycle and a three-year trim cycle.  So every year one-third of the system is inspected, and every year one-third of the system is trimmed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The same third?

MR. FERGUSON:  The inspection is in a -- think of it as divided up into a pie chart with three slices.  Okay?

Slice one is at the top, slice two is to the right, and slice three is to the left.  Okay?  Year one, slice one will get inspected and slice two would get trimmed.  The next year, slice two would get inspected and slice three would get trimmed.

So if you look at slice one, it will get trimmed every third year and inspected every third year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have to admit -- and we deal with tree trimming in lots of LDCs -- that's the first time I heard that particular pattern.

What's the logic behind it?

MR. FERGUSON:  It has a three-year trimming cycle.  The logic behind it is the amount that needs to be trimmed each year and the reliability we achieve out of it.  Okay?

It controls vegetation contact, it controls the safety issues of vegetation coming in proximity to power lines, and it's a balance of the amount of vegetation that is removed in a given year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess what I don't understand -- and maybe I am just missing something here -- is when you are trimming a third of your system, you are getting an inspection anyway because it's, in fact, as good an inspection as you can get, because you are trimming.

And so why would you then be inspecting another third?  You have already inspected one third that year.

MR. FERGUSON:  The trimming is done by contract.  They are paid to trim, and not to inspect.  To inspect is a different job than tree trimming. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's why the inspection is the year after?  Basically, you are looking and seeing what the contractor did the previous year?

MR. FERGUSON:  No.  We are inspecting the distribution system.  We are inspecting it for pole condition, switch condition.  Okay?  Any conductor damage.

The inspection under the Distribution System Code is not tree trimming; it's an electrical and physical condition assessment of the plant. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now I understand.  Our next question was with respect to Energy Probe 34 (f) and (g).

And in 34(f), you said you're assuming there will be no vacancies in 2010, and in 34(g), you believe that there have been two -- there are two positions vacant, and that you didn't include them in the application.

MR. CLINTON:  That is true.  I did not include them in the application.  I think this -- for further clarification, I think these questions are arising from our org chart in our prefiled evidence, where we have two positions that are currently vacant.  They have been vacant for many years.  They were just left on the org chart. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then your response to 34(f), assumptions with respect to vacancies, is you actually have assumed two vacancies.  It's just the same two vacancies forever?

MR. CLINTON:  Well, you see assuming would mean I would actually have their cost in the rate filing.  I haven't.  We were told we had to leave them on the org chart for pay equity reasons.

So if you look org chart, you've got two vacancies.  But they're not there.  We haven't had them filled in a number of years.  Our costs are based with those positions out.

So I apologize for the confusion over that. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.

MR. CLINTON:  Does that help, Mr. Shepherd?  I apologize profusely for the confusion. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Our next question, No. 19, relates to Energy Probe 36(e) 2 -- no, sorry, 36(e) 2 -- yes.  And actually, I guess it also refers to 36(b) sort of generally.

What we are trying to figure out is you have a fully burdened rate for the people that do the street lighting maintenance service, right?  Which is your same fully burdened rate you use for other purposes, right?

Does it include things like cost of capital, depreciation of capital assets, management overhead, all those sorts of things?

MR. CLINTON:  I think we answered that in an IR.  I am going to try to find the IR to refer you back to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Because I looked for that answer, that issue, and I couldn't find it.

MR. CLINTON:  I think we detailed it in one of the IRs.  I believe it was an Energy Probe IR where we outlined everything, so I am just going to look for that, or I can get back to your tomorrow with the reference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. CLINTON:  And you can ask a follow-up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Our question No. 20 relates to Energy Probe 43(a), and this may be just a misunderstanding on my part.

It looks to me like your cost allocation model is throwing up a higher percentage of revenue to cost ratio for GS-over-50 than you agreed to in 2008; is that right?

MR. CLINTON:  If we can defer that question, I have got it out to our expert in this area and I will try and get you a written response for tomorrow.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then I have -- our question No. 21 relates to CCC No. 3.  And I guess you sort of answered this in the sense that you have now provided KT1.3, which is a new capital budget, and your current filing doesn't reflect the new capital budget.  So you are going to provide us with a new revenue requirement work form, which you have already undertaken to do, which will bring all that up to date, right?

Was that right?  Yes?

MR. CLINTON:  Correct. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  Then our next one is CCC No. 25.  So the attachment is this PowerPoint that you have provided to your shareholder.  So you provided -- you have done a new update for your shareholder since October 2009?

MR. FERGUSON:  No, we have not.  We have had an election.  It will have to wait until March. 

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am very tempted to ask a follow-up question on that, but I am not going to.

So your next presentation is going to be March?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And our last question relates to VECC 18(b).  Let me just see what –- okay.

So 18(b) you are talking about the interaction between LRAM recovery –- sorry.  There we go.  Thank you.

And 18(b) talks about the interaction between the settlement in the 2008 case and your LRAM recovery.  And I don't understand your answer, so I wonder if you could just explain it.

MR. FERGUSON:  Is there a specific issue, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Perhaps you could just give us an explanation of what you mean by the answer.


MR. FERGUSON:  I am sorry, I didn't hear the question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The question is:  Please explain why the LRAM for 2009 includes any CDM savings other than those that would be incremental to what is reflected in the actual 2008 loads.


MR. FERGUSON:  Um-hmm.  I believe we provided a response.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have nothing you can add to help me understand this?


MR. TAYLOR:  Mr. Shepherd, perhaps if you ask specific questions, then they would be able to answer those questions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no idea what the answer means.  I just don't get it at all.  An LRAM normally compares to a particular load forecast for a particular year.  There is a load forecast for 2008.


MR. CLINTON:  Give us a few minutes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MR. FERGUSON:  It will take -- I think I can better explain it, but not in the next two minutes, Mr. Shepherd.  If I could go back and discuss it with Mr. Clinton and perhaps with some of our consulting help that we always like, then I might be able to provide you with a clarification on it.  So --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, that's good.


MR. FERGUSON:  By the technical conference, or whatever.  I think when you are saying it to me and I am looking at it again, I think I am starting to see a bit of confusion there that I can clarify for you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks a lot, and those are our questions.  Thanks.

Questions by Mr. Clark:


MR. CLARK:  Question one that I have -- first of all, I think we better give this an exhibit number.  It will be KT1.9.

EXHIBIT NO. KT1.9:  Board Staff Technical Conference Questions

MR. CLINTON:  Before you start, Mr. Clark, can we please have a five-minute break?


MS. HELT:  I think probably we can do that, and then we can go through Board Staff questions, and I believe we will be completed in good enough time for everyone to have lunch, and then to be able to do other things this afternoon.  And after Mr. Clark finishes with his questions, we can discuss how we want to proceed tomorrow.


--- Recess taken at 11:47 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:55 a.m.

MS. HELT:  I think everyone's back, so Mr. Clark, if you are set to proceed with your questions, please.

MR. CLARK:  Yes, thank you.

The first question we are going to have a side bar on and then we will come back to it later today.

I believe the second and third questions with respect to the capital expenditures, where I asked for an updated estimated capital cost and to compare it to CCC's Interrogatory No. 3 is answered by KT1.3 today, and that we would be looking at capital expenditures for 2010 found in the second column as 5,406,000, less the 96,000 for distribution stations that's found on line 15; is that correct?

MR. CLINTON:  5,406,447 less 96,787 is correct.

MR. CLARK:  Yes.  Thank you. 

Yes, and the next two questions -- will you be in the Triple R -– not the Triple R, but the revenue requirement work form, you will be correcting your net book value to reflect this?

MR. CLINTON:  That is correct.

MR. CLARK:  And you will be using the half-year rule?

MR. CLINTON:  That is correct.

MR. CLARK:  Thank you.

On the half-year rule, your operating expense for depreciation, are you calculating that on the half-year rule, or are you calculating it based on in-service date?

MR. CLINTON:  For the ratemaking purposes, it would be the half-year rule.

MR. CLARK:  Thank you.

Questions 6, 7, 8, we have answered. 

My question is why are you spending such a large amount of money on leasehold improvements for such a short occupancy, and you are saying you are going to renew the lease?

MR. FERGUSON:  That is correct, yes. 

MR. CLARK:  And this is a non-arm's-length affiliation?

MR. FERGUSON:  Yes, it is.  The affiliation is with the shareholder.

MR. CLARK:  How is the lease set?  The rate you pay on your lease, how is that -- now that they see you spending all that money for the renovation.

MR. FERGUSON:  The lease is set based on market rates.  So there is a fair market value appraisal of the premises done when the lease is renewed, and then the rate is based on that fair market value.

MR. CLARK:  Thank you.

Question 10 –- or 11, pardon me, 11.  Board Staff Interrogatory 34 (c), Newmarket-Tay shows for account 1555 smart meter capital balance of 182,871 for Tay and zero for Newmarket.  However, on Exhibit 9-1-2, page 5, it shows 235,886.  Are you able to explain that?

MR. CLINTON:  I can't explain it, but I am waiting for a more detailed explanation to come back from one of our experts.

MR. CLARK:  Does that also apply for 12 and 13?  Do you defer that?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes, it does.

MR. CLARK:  Thank you.

MR. CLINTON:  Hopefully we will have that shortly.

MR. CLARK:  Number 14 may seem rather silly, but I just want to clarify the record concerning stranded assets, because in one place you say you have none, and the other you have the dumb meters.

MR. FERGUSON:  To clarify, we believe we properly disclosed the dumb meters in the response to Board Staff IR No. 8, and interpreted IR 7 as any other stranded assets, of which we have none.

MR. CLARK:  Thank you.  And the volumetric forecast, your expert will be here tomorrow?

MR. CLINTON:  We will have written answers from our expert.  I don't know if he'll be here.

But I actually have an answer for this one from Elenchus, if I could read it into the record.

Their comment on that question was -- and I quote:

“The model normalizes for weather, not economic activity."

End quote.

MR. CLARK:  I find that difficult, when it's one of the parameters in the model.

MR. CLINTON:  I will have to get further clarification from Elenchus.

MR. CLARK:  Okay.  Thank you. 

All I am trying to do with the next three questions is understand the accounting for street light -- street light maintenance, and my -- from what I heard here earlier today, this is almost as if it's a non-utility adjustment.  In other words, you remove these costs from your utility application, so it's not -- so the OM&A has no costs for maintenance of street lights in it, and there are no revenues in your revenue offsets for it because it's accounted for off of your regulatory books; is that correct?

MR. CLINTON:  That is correct.  It's run through a clearing account in the balance sheet.

MR. CLARK:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, can I just follow up to that?

So your personnel costs that are included in your application have deducted from them the component that's allocated to street light maintenance, right?

MR. CLINTON:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so this Energy Probe or whatever IR response that you are going to find will show us that calculation?

MR. CLINTON:  We run it as a clearing account, so those costs are never in the rate filing.  So in other words, when you are looking at the historical and in the 2000 test year, the costs that we incur for street lighting are not in the calculation.  They are not in OM&A.  Right?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not the question, though.

Because we have a total amount of compensation costs which includes OM&A and capital components, but there is also another component, which is non-utility, right?  Which is part of your compensation total?

MR. CLINTON:  I am not sure what you are getting at.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you pay your employees $5 million, say, some -- a portion of that goes to OM&A?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  A portion of that goes to capital?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And another portion of that goes to non-utility?

MR. CLINTON:  Okay.  I don't use non-utility.  I use a clearing account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The clearing account.  A portion of your compensation goes there, right?

So do we have a reconciliation of your compensation to those three components, to show how much of your compensation is being allocated to street lighting?

MR. CLINTON:  I'm trying to -- either I am not understanding you or you are not understanding me.

What I am saying is in the rate filing those costs are not there, so in the revenue requirement those costs aren't there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But when you have given us the information about your compensation totals --


MR. CLINTON:  Oh, you mean on schedule...

MR. SHEPHERD:  2(l), for example.

MR. CLINTON:  Okay.  I understand what you're saying.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's all your compensation, right?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes, that's total compensation paid.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So some portion of that is being allocated to street lighting?

MR. CLINTON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you are going to find where you've given us those details?

MR. CLINTON:  We didn't -- in the response to Energy Probe, it was about how we costed everything.  You are asking something different now, which is okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So do you know how much of your compensation was allocated to street lighting?

MR. CLINTON:  Not a heck of a lot in the end, but I'll get you the number, if you'd like.

MR. HARPER:  Jay, maybe the easiest thing is –- following up on the way Jay was characterizing, if you go to your application and you go to Exhibit 4, tab 4, schedule 1, page 3, that is where you list your total compensation.

You've got total compensation of about 5.6 million, and then you have compensation charged to OM&A of 3.7, and compensation capitalized of 1.9.

And I guess what Jay was getting at was that compensation that is charged to OM&A, either -- some of that doesn't really go to OM&A.  It goes off to this clearing account, or...

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are paying for those guys to fix the street lights.

MR. HARPER:  Yeah.  Or basically, that -- I don't know if you understand.

MR. CLINTON:  I get what you are saying, but we're saying that in the application itself, we have no street lighting cost or any of that, right?  That compensation schedule is:  Here is what we pay the guys, based off T4 slips.

MR. HARPER:  So basically, the compensation and the FTEs and everything related to street lighting are excluded from this compensation schedule here and the total compensation costs that you're quoting.

MR. CLINTON:  I am getting a little confused.

If you are talking about the schedule that the Board asked of the total dollars paid, that's the total dollars paid.  That does not exactly tie to what goes through the GL for the rate OM&A costs in the revenue requirement.

We have those street lighting costs out of the revenue requirement.  That separate schedule was the compensation schedule, is what we pay, the total salary dollars going out through the organization.  Those dollars would be in there.

And if we can keep in mind the total recovery from the street lighting is 224,000 per year, which -- it has got to be less than 100,000 in actual salary dollar costs.  And again, those costs are not in the revenue requirement, but they --


MR. SHEPHERD:  They are in the compensation table?

MR. CLINTON:  The compensation table isn't -- it is what we pay the people.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  So what we need is a reconciliation of the compensation table totals to the -- where it's allocated, OM&A, capital and street lighting.

MR. CLINTON:  Okay.  That will take me a little longer, because I will have to go and dig out some of the records, but we will try to get something for you.  I am just trying to make sure we have numbers for the settlement conference on Monday.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I get an undertaking number for that?

MS. HELT:  We will note that as undertaking JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT1.2:  TO PROVIDE RECONCILIATION AND ALLOCATION OF THE COMPENSATION TABLE TOTALS.

MR. CLARK:  While we are talking about reconciliation, my Question No. 21 goes to the reconciliation of the audited financial statements.  I didn't see any eliminations in the audited financial statements and your reconciliation to the numbers that are in your application for street light maintenance.

MR. CLINTON:  They are netted to zero, so they would not appear.

MR. CLARK:  Okay.

MR. CLINTON:  Revenues offset expense.

MR. CLARK:  Okay, thank you.  It doesn't sit well.

The vacancies I think we have explained.  So, essentially, you are always at full employment?  You don't have people -- you don't have vacancies, people leave, and then you, three months later, fill it?

MR. FERGUSON:  We fill, if possible, immediately either through a permanent hire or a contract.  We need all hands on deck.

MR. CLARK:  You have very skilled labour on the technicians and engineers or linemen, and you can pick them up that quickly?

MR. FERGUSON:  We haven't had significant turnover or any turnover in skilled help in the last number of years, just -- line person is the only one that comes to mind, and we have been able to fill by a contract position.

MR. CLARK:  Okay, thank you.  With respect to No. 25, we discussed that earlier either on the record or off the record, but we are going to have that document, is my understanding.

Cost allocation will be tomorrow; is it?  And rate design, do I leave that until tomorrow?  It's probably most appropriate to discuss it tomorrow, because the two go hand in hand.  So those are my questions.

MS. HELT:  Are there any further follow-up questions from any of the intervenors?  All right, then -- sorry, yes.

MR. FERGUSON:  With reference to Board Staff question 25, the document from the EDA, whether it was filed, I have it here, and it could be copied and handed out if people want to just --


MR. TAYLOR:  Why don't we just do that, because you can't seem to find it so...

MS. HELT:  I am not sure who has signed the declaration and undertaking.

MR. TAYLOR:  I understand that, but I would be happy to give them out, and we can get the undertakings signed at the same time, or shortly after.  I am fine with that, as well.

MS. HELT:  That's fine, then.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.
Procedural Matters:


MS. HELT:  I think, then, what we should do is adjourn for today.  But before we do that, I think we need to discuss when we are coming back tomorrow.  That will largely be dependent on when Mr. Taylor and Newmarket can actually provide answers to the various questions that were asked today and that were deferred until tomorrow.

I don't know if you will be available to do it this afternoon, and then have the answers available tomorrow morning, or if you require a little bit more time.  Maybe you can give us an indication of that.

MR. CLINTON:  We will make best efforts to get them to you sometime today, so that could be later today or this evening.

MS. HELT:  Then I would suggest that we come back tomorrow morning.  We can start at 9:30, if that's agreeable to everyone who is planning on attending.

Mr. Aiken, you said you are not available to attend tomorrow?

MR. AIKEN:  That's correct.

MR. CLINTON:  What we can do is, if we can try and do written responses, I can make sure Mr. Aiken is cc'd on them tonight, or we can make sure a copy gets to him of the answers.

MR. AIKEN:  Yes, just e-mail me.

MS. HELT:  All right, then.  Then any questions that are not answered tomorrow that were deferred until tomorrow, then I will be asking that we get an actual undertaking to have those questions answered so that we have that on the record.  I trust that's agreeable to you, Mr. Taylor?

MR. TAYLOR:  In writing?

MS. HELT:  In writing, that's correct.  If there are certain questions that were asked today that have been deferred until tomorrow and that are not able to be answered by tomorrow, then we will need to have an undertaking that they be answered.

MR. TAYLOR:  Sure.

MS. HELT:  That's just standard procedure.  Okay, then, let's adjourn until tomorrow morning at 9:30.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the conference adjourned at 12:11 p.m.
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